AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

SYNTHESIS OF 7-O-METHYLPUNCTATIN, A NOVEL HOMOISOFLAVONOID, AND ITS MOLECULAR MECHANISMS IN ATTENUATING BASAL AND COX-2-INDUCED MALIGNANT PHENOTYPE OF BREAST CANCER CELLS.

ZAINAB HUSSAM RAMLAOUI

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon February 2021

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

SYNTHESIS OF 7-O-METHYLPUNCTATIN, A NOVEL HOMOISOFLAVONOID, AND ITS MOLECULAR MECHANISMS IN ATTENUATING THE BASAL AND COX-2-INDUCED MALIGNANT PHENOTYPE OF BREAST CANCER CELLS.

By ZAINAB HUSSAM RAMLAOUI

Approved by:

Dr. Assaad A. Eid

Dr. Ali H. Eid Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

Advisor

Dr. Nadine Darwiche Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics

Member of Committee

Dr. Nathalie Khoueiry-Zgheib Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

Member of Committee

Member of Committee

Aunal I . Cil

Date of thesis defense: [February 22, 2021]

Department of Anatomy and Cell Physiology

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS RELEASE FORM

Student Name:

Ramlaoui Zainab

Hussam

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes:

As of the date of submission

One year from the date of submission of my project.

Two years from the date of submission of my project.

 \boxtimes Three years from the date of submission of my project.

Zainab Ramlaoui

Signature

Date 02/28/2021

ACKNOWLEDGEMNTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor **Dr. Ali Eid** who has given me the chance to be a part of his laboratory. His constant support, motivation and wisdom push us to become better versions of our selves scientifically and morally. I am sincerely grateful for all the invaluable scientific insights you have imparted on me. Thank you for being the great advisor anyone would be lucky to have!

I would also like to thank **Dr. Tarek Ghaddar** and his lab member **Dr. Tharallah Shoker** from the chemistry department at AUB for allowing me to join their laboratory and take part in synthesizing the compound used in this project.

I would like to thank the staff and members of the Pharmacology department at AUB for they have created an amazing environment to work and grow. Special thanks to **Dr. Ramzi Sabra** the chairperson of our department and my committee **members Dr. Nadine Darwiche**, **Dr. Nathalie Zgheib**, and **Dr. Assaad Eid** for their guidance and insights.

Now I would like to thank my second family, my lab members. Thank you for making this journey enjoyable and lighthearted. Thank you for **Dr. Khodor Issa, Dr. Manal Fardoun, Dina Maaliki, Rola Abdullah, Hala Jaber, and Sandy Choker.**

And Finally, I want to thank my **Dad**, **Mom**, **siblings**, and **Fiancé** for always being there for me. For being the source of unconditional love and support.

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Zainab Hussam Ramlaoui for Maste

<u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major</u>: Pharmacology and Therapeutics

Title: Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin, a Novel Homoisoflavonoid, and its Molecular Mechanisms in Attenuating Basal and COX-2-Induced Malignant Phenotype of Breast Cancer Cells

Background: Breast cancer is the leading cause of female morbidity and mortality worldwide. A substantial amount of evidence suggests a major role for inflammation in the initiation and progression of various malignancies including breast cancer. Among the different inflammatory markers, cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) is the most investigated and is overexpressed in tumor breast tissue yet undetectable in normal tissue. In fact, phytochemical polyphenols have been reported to decrease the proliferation of cancer cells, block pro-inflammatory cytokines as well as hinder transcription factors that mediate cancer progression.

Methods/Aims: Breast adenocarcinoma cell lines MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 were employed to study the effects of the synthesized homoisoflavonoid (7-O-methylpunctatin). H¹NMR and C¹³NMR were done to confirm the structure of our synthesized 7-O-methylpunctatin (7MP). The effects of 7MP were studied on COX-2 overexpressing and basal-breast cancer cells. First, the proliferative (MTT) and migratory (wound-healing assay) capacities of breast cancer cells treated with 7MP were assessed compared to control cells. Following that, prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) levels were measured using Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) in COX-2 overexpressing cells. Western blotting was used to evaluate 7MP's selectivity for COX-2 or COX-1. In addition, cell cycle analysis (flow cytometry) and apoptosis markers (caspase-glo assay) were examined on treated cells to evaluate the effect of 7MP on cell cycle and apoptotic machinery. Finally, the phosphorylation level of ERK1/2 (In-cell ELISA) and NF- κ B activity (NF- κ B luciferase reporter assay) were measured.

Results: The H¹NMR and C¹³NMR spectra confirmed that our synthesized 7MP has the desired structure as that extracted from *Bellevalia eigii*. 7MP significantly reduced the basal and COX-2-induced proliferation of breast cancer cells. It also reduced the basal migratory capacity of MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells. We also showed that 7MP selectively targets COX-2 but not COX-1 and decreases the amount of released PGE₂ from parent MDA-MB-231 cells and COX-2 overexpressing cells. The cell cycle analysis demonstrated that treatment with 20 μ M 7MP caused G0/G1 arrest of breast cancer cells and induced apoptosis by

increasing the activity of caspases 3/7. Finally, 7MP inhibited basal and COX-2 induced ERK1/2 phosphorylation and NF- κ B activity in MDA-MB-231 cells.

Conclusion: Our results show that COX-2 potentiates the tumorigenic capacity of breast cancer cells. We also demonstrate that the homoisoflavonoid synthesized 7MP attenuates both basal and inflammation-potentiated malignant phenotype of breast cancer cells.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMNTS	
ABSTRACT	2
ILLUSTRATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	9
A. Background information	9
1. Epidemiology	9
2. Risk Factors	9
B. Screening	
C. Subtypes & Therapy	
1. Natural products in treatment of breast cancer	
D. Inflammation in Breast Cancer	
1. The COX-2/PGE2/EP axis	
2. EP receptors in Breast Cancer	
3. COX-2/PGE2/EP axis in Breast Cancer	
4. COX-2/PGE2/EP axis and EMT progression	
E. Homoisoflavonoids and Inflammation	
F. Homoisoflavonoids and Other hallmarks of Cancer.	
1. Proliferation	
2. Angiogenesis	
3. Invasion and Migration	
G. A Novel Homoisoflavonoid: 7-O-Methylpunctatin	
H. Rationale and Hypothesis	

MAT	TERIALS & METHODS
A.	Materials used in the synthesis:
B.	Materials used in biological assays:
1.	Cell Culture:
2.	Wound healing or scratch Assay:
3.	Viability Assay:
4.	Transient Transfections:
5.	Western blotting:
6.	In-cell ELISA
7.	NF-κB luciferase Rerpoter
8.	Analysis of PGE ₂ Production
9.	Cell Cycle Analysis
10	Caspase-Glo assay
11	. Chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assay
12	2. Statistical Analysis
RESU	ULTS
RESU	ULTS
RESU A. 1.	ULTS
A. 1. 2.	ULTS 34 Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin 34 The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP 35 X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin 36
A. 1. 2. 3.	JLTS 34 Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin 34 The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP 35 X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin 36 Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells. 37
A. 1. 2. 3. 4.	JLTS34Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin34The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP35X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin36Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells.377MP affects cell cycle progression39
A. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	JLTS34Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin34The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP35X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin36Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells.377MP affects cell cycle progression397MP targets COX-2 but not COX-1 expression39
A. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	JLTS34Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin34The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP35X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin36Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells377MP affects cell cycle progression397MP targets COX-2 but not COX-1 expression397MP decreases the amount of released PgE2 in MDA-MB-23140
A. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.	JLTS34Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin34The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP35X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin36Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells.377MP affects cell cycle progression397MP targets COX-2 but not COX-1 expression.397MP decreases the amount of released PgE2 in MDA-MB-231407MP affects apoptotic markers.41
A. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8.	JLTS34Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin34The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP35X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin36Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells.377MP affects cell cycle progression397MP targets COX-2 but not COX-1 expression.397MP decreases the amount of released PgE2 in MDA-MB-231407MP affects apoptotic markers.417MP inhibits migration of MCF-7 cells.42
A. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9.	ULTS34Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin34The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP35X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin36Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells377MP affects cell cycle progression397MP targets COX-2 but not COX-1 expression397MP decreases the amount of released PgE2 in MDA-MB-231407MP affects apoptotic markers417MP inhibits migration of MCF-7 cells427MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced NF-κB activity in MDA-MB-231 cells43
A. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10	JLTS34Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin34The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP35X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin36Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells.377MP affects cell cycle progression397MP targets COX-2 but not COX-1 expression.397MP decreases the amount of released PgE2 in MDA-MB-231.407MP affects apoptotic markers.417MP inhibits migration of MCF-7 cells.427MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced NF-κB activity in MDA-MB-231 cells.437MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced ERK1/2 in MDA-MB-231 cells.44
A. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10 11	JLTS34Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin34The 1H- NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP35X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin36Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells.377MP affects cell cycle progression397MP targets COX-2 but not COX-1 expression.397MP decreases the amount of released PgE2 in MDA-MB-231407MP affects apoptotic markers.417MP inhibits migration of MCF-7 cells.427MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced NF-κB activity in MDA-MB-231 cells.430.7MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced ERK1/2 in MDA-MB-231 cells.44.7MP inhibits angiogenesis in CAM model.45

CONCLUSION	52
LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE	53
REFERENCES	54

ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure
1.Risk factors associated with Breast Cancer
2. Breast cancer therapeutic options
3. Molecular scaffolds of the different types of homoisoflavonoids described in the literature.
4. Reported biological activities of Homoisoflavonoids 17
5. The different couplings for the G-protein coupled receptors (EP1-4) to which PGE2 bind to.
6. Chemical structure of 7-O-Methylpunctatin
7. Synthesis route of 7MP
8. H ¹ NMR Spectrum for 7MP
9. Crystallography structure of 7MP
10. 7MP decreases the viability of MDA-MB-231 cells in a time and concentration-
dependent manner
11. 7MP decreases the viability of MCF7 cells in a time and concentration-dependent manner.
12. 7MP induces cell cycle arrest at G0/G1
13. 7MP decreases COX-2 but not COX-1
14. 7MP decreases the amount of PgE2 released in MDA-MB-231
15. 7MP induces caspase3/7
16. 7MP inhibits the migration of MCF7 cells in a time dependent manner
17. 7MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced NF-κB activity in MDA-MB-231 cells

18.	7MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced ERK1/2 in MDA-MB-231 cells	45
19.	7MP inhibits angiogenesis in-ovo	46

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

A. Background information

1. Epidemiology

Breast cancer is one of the most common cancers [1]. In 2016, 1.7 million new breast cancer cases arose making it the leading cause of female morbidity and mortality worldwide [2]. Resulting in a contribution of 25.4% of all cancer cases and 15% of deaths by cancer in women globally in 2018 [3]. Lebanon has its share of these numbers since breast cancer rates in this small developing country are amidst the highest in the region and worldwide [4]. It has been reported that countries with higher socio-economic achievement, also known as higher human development index (HDI), have higher incidence of breast cancer as opposed to countries with low or medium HDI [5]. On the other hand, deaths due to breast cancer over the period of 1990-2016 were higher in countries with low HDI, in part due to the lack in accessibility to therapy and diagnosis [6]. Having said that, it is expected that breast cancer incidence will continue to escalate in the future subjecting both developed and developing countries to multifaceted challenges [6].

2. Risk Factors

There are various health, environmental, and reproductive risk factors that are correlated with the development of breast cancer [7]. Many crucial risk factors in breast cancer are nonmodifiable, such as age and hereditary mutations. Others, on the other hand, such as those related to the lifestyle of individual, have been found to be potentially modifiable (diet, exercise and smoking) [8].

a. <u>Age and Hereditary factors</u>

The incidence of breast cancer is strongly correlated to aging. According to the cancer statistics in 2017, 99.3% of breast cancer related deaths in America were of women aged above 40, and around 71.2% were for those aged above 60 [9]. Besides aging, family history is also an important indicator of breast cancer risk. A cohort study of more than 113,000 women established that having first-degree relatives with breast cancer increases the risk of developing the disease to 2.5 folds [10]. In addition, inherited mutations the tumor suppressor genes: BRCA1 and BRCA2 are partially accountable for the inherited susceptibility for the disease [11]. Women with such mutations will more probably develop breast cancer by the age of 70 compared to non-carriers [11].

b. <u>Reproductive Factors</u>

There are multiple reproductive factors involved in the increased risk of breast cancer. It has been shown that each 1-year delay in menopause increases the risk of breast cancer by 3% whereas a similar delay in menarche would decrease the risk by 5% [12]. In brief, the increased time span in which a woman is exposed to sex hormones, the higher the risk of her developing breast cancer [13].

c. Lifestyle (Alcohol consumption, smoking, fitness and nutrition)

There are several lifestyle related risk factors in breast cancer but only three will be in this paper. The first being alcohol consumption, in which several studies suggested that it possesses a dose dependent relationship with increased breast cancer risk. The underlying mechanism is most likely related to the fact that alcohol consumption results in an increase of estrogen levels in blood since the breast cancers associated with alcohol are of the ER (+) subtype.

There are conflicting data on the effect of smoking on the incidence of breast cancer. Some studies have shown that women who smoke before their first pregnancy or are heavy smokers have a relatively greater risk of developing breast cancer. On the other hand, smoking after menopause has been associated with decreased risk of breast cancer. The latter could be due to tobacco's anti-estrogenic effects.

Physical exercise and the high consumption of fruits and vegetables have been linked to the decrease in breast cancer risk. Moreover, increased adipose tissue in women transitioning into menopause increased breast cancer risk by 12% due to the increase of estrogens in blood [14].

d. Estrogen

Estrogens can be divided into two main categories: endogenous (produced by the ovaries) or exogenous (synthetic or phytoestrogens). Both exogenous and endogenous estrogens have been shown to be involved in the increased risk of breast cancer. Furthermore, ovariectomy has been associated with the decreased risk of breast cancer [15]. Hormonal replacement therapy or the administration of oral contraceptives have been also risk factors in breast cancer [15].

Hormonal replacement therapy (HRT) is the administration of exogenous estrogens alongside other hormones to menopausal or post-menopausal women in order to compensate the reduced levels of the endogenous ones [16]. After publishing on the adverse effects of HRT in 2003 and the subsequent reduction in its use, the incidence rate of breast cancer in America decreased by 7% [17].



Figure 1 Risk factors associated with Breast Cancer.

B. Screening

Screening is crucial for an early detection of breast cancer [18]. Different types of studies such as case control studies, observational studies and RCTs have shown that mortality due to breast cancer decreased after screening mammograms [19]. A mammogram enables the visualization of the internal structures of the breasts with a relatively high sensitivity and specificity [20]. Dense breasts can reduce the sensitivity of mammography screening therefore, in such cases adjunctive screening is recommended such as digital breast tomosynthesis (DBT), breast MRI, or ultrasound.

DBT uses several X-rays to construct a 3D-image of the breasts for a clear display of breast tissue [19]. MRI, on the other hand uses magnetic fields and this would construct a detailed cross-sectional image of the body. MRI has a higher sensitivity than mammography screening and is used in conjunction with it in high risk women [19]. If the woman is unable to undergo MRI due to creatinine clearance issues, an ultrasound is carried out instead.

C. Subtypes & Therapy

Breast cancer is a heterogenous disease [21]. It is histologically classified into three major subtypes based on the different molecular markers the breast tumors are expressing (estrogen receptor [ER], progesterone receptor [PR], human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 [ERBB2/HER2]) [22]. In 2000, Perou et al further stratified breast cancer into more than four "intrinsic subtypes" based on gene expression patterns of human-breast tumor specimens [23]. Basal like and HER-2 positive are two subtypes that are derived from ER-negative tumors while luminal A and luminal B subtypes are derived from ER-positive tumors [24, 25]. The basal-like category is mainly comprised of triple negative breast cancers (TNBCs) i.e. those lacking ER, PR, HER2 receptors [26]. TNBCs are highly invasive and are associated with shorter relapse-free survival period [23].

Most breast cancer patients are of the hormonal receptor positive subtype (70% of patients), the rest of the patients are distributed among TNBCs (15%) and ERBB2/HER2 positive subtypes (15%-20%) [27]. Breast cancer is divided into four stages I-IV, with IV being the most severe in which the tumor has already metastasized into distant organs [28]. Stage I on the other

hand, is when the tumor size is small (<2 cm) with no involvement of the lymph nodes. The median survival time among all stages is the least for TNBCs relative to HR (+) or ERBB2/HER2(+) [29-31].

The standard approach for treating breast cancer is breast-conserving surgery and radiation in addition to other treatment options such as chemotherapy and endocrine therapy [32]. The classification of breast cancer into subtypes helped specialize the treatment for each subtype of the disease in a unique manner. "Trastuzumab" is a therapeutic agent used for breast cancers which over-express the ERBB2 receptor, by virtue of its ability to target this receptor and consequently inhibiting its downstream signaling [33]. On the other hand, for those expressing hormonal receptors, endocrine therapy is preferred by using agents such as tamoxifen or fulvestrant [32]. Targeted therapy has somehow helped with the improvement of the clinical outcome of the various subtypes of breast cancer except that of TNBC, which has been rendered refractory to such therapies [34, 35]. Multiple problems are associated with the conventional treatment of breast cancer such as the side effects of chemotherapy and radiotherapy in addition to multidrug resistance [36-39]. This inconvenience associated with the conventional treatment has sparked interest in searching for alternative agents that can be used as adjuvants to existing treatments or as chemotherapeutic agents on their own [40-43].



Figure 2 Breast cancer therapeutic options.

1. Natural products in treatment of breast cancer

In the field of cancer, numerous natural products have displayed beneficial effects with less toxicity compared to synthetic compounds [44, 45]. Over the last four decades, more than 60% of the approved small molecules used in anti-cancer therapy are natural products or derived therefrom [46]. A class of plant-based polyphenolic compounds, named "flavonoids", that is abundant in fruits and vegetables have been associated with the treatment and prevention of different ailments including cancer [47-51]. The family of flavonoids is comprised of different subclasses one of which is the family of 3-benzylidenechroman-4-ones termed "Homoisoflavonoids" [52, 53].

a. <u>Homoisoflavonoids</u>

The term "homoisoflavonoids" was first coined in 1967 to describe a group of natural compounds that were similar to isoflavonoids but had an extra carbon in their skeleton [54]. Homoisoflavonoids are rarely found in nature and can be further divided into five groups based on their structures: sappanin-type, protosappanin-type, scillascillin-type, brazilin-type, and caesalpin-type [55]. Most of the isolated homoisoflavonoids originate from the two plant families Asparagaceae and Fabaceae; the rest however, are divided among other families such as the Polygonaceae, Portulacaceae, Orchidaceae, and the Liliaceae [55].





Scillacillin-Type





Brazilin-Type





Protosappanin-Type

Figure 3 Molecular scaffolds of the different types of homoisoflavonoids described in the literature.

Although it has been around five decades since the first homoisoflavonoids were isolated, more is known about their chemistry compared to their bioactivity [56]. A wide range of biological activities have been reported by these compounds including: antioxidant [57], anti-mutagenic [58], anti-inflammatory[59], and anti-cancerous [60]. Although there aren't extensive studies on the direct effects of homoisoflavonoids in breast cancer models (in vivo and in vitro); many homoisoflavonoids did show desired effects on models of other cancer types. Homoisoflavonoids have been shown to modulate different signaling pathways in cancer that can be hypothetically applied to breast cancer.



Figure 4 Reported biological activities of Homoisoflavonoids.

D. Inflammation in Breast Cancer

Inflammation is one of the defense mechanisms the body utilizes upon infection, injury or exposure to irritants [61]. Chronic inflammation that persists for a long period of time creates an environment that can lead to and is suitable for different ailments including cancer [62] [63]. Inflammatory breast cancer (IBC) is one of the most aggressive forms of the disease and it represents around 2-10% of breast cancer tumors [64, 65]. Moreover, inflammatory microenvironment is associated with therapeutic resistance in addition to promoting angiogenesis, metastasis and an immunosuppressive environment [66]. One of the major dysregulated inflammatory mediators in cancer is COX-2 and is often linked to the increased rate of death by cancer.

1. The COX-2/PGE2/EP axis

Cyclooxygenases are enzymes that catalyze the formation of prostaglandins from arachidonic acid (AA). They exist in two distinct forms: COX-1 and COX-2. COX-1 is constitutively expressed in almost all body tissues while COX-2 expression is induced upon inflammation [67]. A huge body of evidence indicates that COX-2 is an important player in the cross talk between inflammation and cancer development [68-70]. In fact, the overexpression of COX-2 is a prognostic marker of stage III breast cancer and is associated with shorter relapse-free survival period [68]. Moreover, COX-2 have been considered the major source of prostaglandins; which are key players in inflammation [71]. The family of prostaglandins includes PGE₂, PGF₂, TXB₂, thromboxane A₂ (TXA₂), PGD₂, and PGI₂.

The elevated levels of PGE₂ have been associated with various malignancies and decreased survival rates [72]. PGE₂ can cause cancer progression by promoting cancer cell

proliferation, migration, invasion, and growth [73, 74]. Prostaglandin uptake transporter (PGT) and multiple drug resistance associated protein (MRP4) are two transporters that carry PGE₂ in and out of the cell respectively [75, 76]. These two transporters are therefore able to control the extracellular levels of PGE₂ and subsequently affecting cancer development [77]. PGE₂ exported out of the cells can bind to EP receptors which are G-protein coupled receptors.

Upon activating the EP receptors, PGE₂ can transactivate multiple signaling pathways such as nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) [78], mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) [79], phosphoinositide 3 kinase-protein kinase B (PI3K-PKB/Akt) [73], and hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-1 α -associated pathways [80]. In addition, PGE₂ activation of EPs can also crosstalk with pro-tumorigenic extracellular signaling-regulated kinase (ERK)/c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs) [81, 82].

2. EP receptors in Breast Cancer

There are four subfamilies of EP receptors (EP1-4) each with distinct biochemical properties and biological outcomes [83]. EP1 causes an increase in intracellular calcium levels through coupling with Gaq or through receptor-activated calcium channels (RACCs) [84, 85]. EP3 receptors exist in different isoforms but they can either inhibit adenylyl cyclase (coupled to Gai) or increase IP3/[Ca²⁺]_i [86-88]. On the other hand, EP2 and EP4 are coupled to Gas and adenylyl cyclase and can in turn stimulate the second messenger cAMP along with its downstream effector: protein kinase A (PKA) [89-91].



Figure 5 The different couplings for the G-protein coupled receptors (EP1-4) to which PGE2 bind to.

Different EP receptors are induced in the different stages of normal murine mammary gland development [92]. Both EP1 and EP3 receptors are expressed during the involution phase of the gland meanwhile EP3 receptors can also be found scarcely in the proliferative phase [92]. On the other hand, EP2 and EP4 receptors are only induced in the proliferative phase of the development of the gland [92].

In mammary tumorigenesis, the expression pattern of EP receptors changes. The expression of EP1, EP2 and EP4 receptors increases yet that of EP3 is downregulated. In a model of mammary tumorigenesis, the expression of both EP2 and EP4 receptors was suppressed after the treatment with a non-selective COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitor. Moreover, studies have suggested that EP2 and EP4 play a pivotal role in the progression and angiogenesis of COX-2-induced mammary tumors [92]. EP2 and EP4 are also involved in the PGE₂-mediated increase of aromatase activity in breast cancer cells [93]. Aromatase catalyzes the conversion

of androgens to estrogens and such an increase in its activity would promote the growth of estrogen-dependent tumors [94].

Huge evidence suggests that among the four receptors, targeting EP4 seems to be beneficial in breast cancer therapy. A study showed that using an agonist of EP4 increased the proliferation and migration of SUM149 cells (inflammatory breast cancer cell line) while blocking EP4 had an anti-proliferative and anti-migratory effect [95]. As a matter of fact, numerous studies have shown the involvement of EP4 in different cancers such as lung, prostate, and colon cancer [96-98]. In breast cancer models, EP4 have also been implicated in modulating many aspects of metastasis including migration and invasion [99, 100].

3. COX-2/PGE2/EP axis in Breast Cancer

Huge experimental evidence suggests that COX-2 over expression alone can induce breast cancer in animal models [101-103]. Breast tumors overexpressing COX-2 are large in size and highly invasive [104]. Likewise, gene expression analyses in mouse models have associated COX-2 with the ability of breast cancer to metastasize to the bones, brain and lungs [59, 105]. Remarkably, silencing COX-2 prevents the migration of breast cancer cells *in vitro* [106]. In addition, a study showed that breast cancer patients who responded to chemotherapy shifted from a COX-2 positive to negative expression profile; with an improvement in their progression-free survival [107].

4. COX-2/PGE2/EP axis and EMT progression

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process involved in multiple pathological conditions including cancer cell metastasis and resistance to therapy [108-110]. In EMT, epithelial cells lose their polarity and cell-cell adhesion and become of a mesenchymal phenotype [111]. The process of EMT is characterized by the loss of epithelial markers such as E-cadherin and β -catenin and increase in the expression of mesenchymal markers such as vimentin and N-cadherin [112]. The acquisition of a mesenchymal phenotype ultimately leads to the intravasation of cancer cells. A previous study showed that COX-2/PGE₂ downregulate the expression of cell adhesion molecule E-cadherin, and therefore promote EMT [113]. Moreover, COX-2 and PGE₂ are associated with the increased expression of various mesenchymal markers such as α -SMA, vimentin, and zinc finger protein SNAI1. In addition, knocking down COX-2 using siRNA or the use of an EP4 receptor antagonist reversed the TAM-induced EMT in an in vitro model of lung cancer [114].

E. Homoisoflavonoids and Inflammation

Macrophages are immune cells that are involved in the modulation of inflammatory responses by virtue of their ability to secrete a variety of inflammatory mediators (PGE₂, IL-6, TNF- α , NO and others) [115]. A major player in the pathogenesis of inflammation is the small diffusible molecule: nitric oxide (NO). The sappanin-type homoisoflavonoids, portulacanones A-D, have been reported to decrease the production of NO from LPS-induced RAW-264.7 macrophages [116]. This decrease in NO production is due to the decrease in the expression of the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [116]. Another sappanin-type homoisoflavonoid, 4'-O-demethylophiopogonanone E, extracted from the rhizome of *Ophiopogon japonicus* significantly inhibited the release of NO and pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-6 at non-

cytotoxic concentrations ($< 50 \,\mu$ M) [117]. Also, the remarkably high homoisoflavonoid content (dihydroeucomin and eucomol) of *Agave pygmaea* have rendered it one of the strongest antiinflammatory extracts among the Agave taxon [118].

Upon injury or inflammation, antioxidant proteins are utilized to protect the body against oxidative damage [117]. Among the family of transcription factors that modulate the expression of anti-oxidant proteins is the nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) [117]. A homoisoflavonoid from the heartwood of *Caesalpinia sappan*, Sappanone A, has been shown to increase the translocation of Nrf-2 to the nucleus and subsequently increasing the expression of Nrf-2 target genes such as heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) [119]. HO-1 plays a key protective role in tissues by reducing inflammatory responses and maintaining cellular homeostasis [120-122]. Not only did Sappanone A act on the Nrf-2 pathway, it also suppressed the LPS-induced activation of NFκB in RAW-264.7 macrophages [119].

Major agents in inflammation, cyclooxygenases, are enzymes that catalyze the formation of eicosanoids from arachidonic acid [123]. The over-expression of COX-2 in human breast cancer has been associated with poor prognosis, increased proliferation, and metastasis to lymph nodes [104, 124, 125]. Furthermore, the production of PGE₂ through COX-2 in breast tumors have been shown to dampen the activity of the immune system, and it is now evident that blocking COX-2 could reverse this problem [126]. Although non-selective cyclooxygenase inhibitors attenuate inflammatory responses, they are associated with gastro-intestinal side effects [127]. Nevertheless, it has been demonstrated that the selective inhibition of COX-2 attenuates inflammation and exerts cancer preventative effects, concomitant with less toxicity compared to non-selective cyclooxygenase inhibitors [128-130]. A study demonstrated that three homoisoflavonoids of the Scillascillin-type: (R)-3-(3',4'-

Dihydroxybenzyl)-7-hydroxy-5-methoxychroman-4-one,(E)-3-(3',4'-dihydroxybenzylidene)-7-hydroxy-5-methoxychroman-4-one, and ovatifolionone acetate were shown to have significant inhibitory activity against COX-2 [131].

F. Homoisoflavonoids and Other hallmarks of Cancer

1. Proliferation

Proliferation is a major facet that causes tumor progression and development [132]. By disrupting multiple signaling pathways, cancer cells maintain a very high proliferation rate [133]. In cancer therapy, it is favorable to target this markedly fast proliferation and uncontrolled division. For this purpose, some homoisoflavonoids were tested against breast cancer cell lines *in-vitro*. Interestingly, homoisoflavonoids extracted from *"Bellevalia flexuosa"*, have shown growth inhibitory effects against the estrogen receptor negative breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231 [134]. In addition, a rare scillascillin-type homoisoflavonoid from the seeds of *Crotalaria pallida*, had anti-proliferative effects against MCF-7 cells with an IC50 of 6.77 μM [135].

2. Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is the sprouting of blood vessels from pre-existing ones; a process that is crucial for the progression of tumors [136]. It is an essential step for the local growth of tumors leading to metastasis, with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) being a key player in this process [137]. Under hypoxic conditions, hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 α is stabilized and in turn enhances the transcription of hypoxia-inducible genes such as that of VEGF. It has been demonstrated that targeting VEGF expression, reduces tumor progression by aberrating the

process of angiogenesis. In fact, homoisoflavonoids extracted from *Ophiopogon ohwii*, significantly inhibited the activity of HIF-1 α in HepG2 cells [138]. These same homoisoflavonoids were able to inhibit the migration and tube formation of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) at a very low concentration (1 μ M) [138].

There are several drugs that aim to inhibit angiogenesis via targeting VEGF such as Avastin (bevacizumab); however, they are associated with side effects and resistance [139]. Finding a molecule that could target VEGF and henceforth be used on its own or as adjuvants to existing anti-VEGF molecules is favorable in the treatment of breast cancer. A sappanin-type homoisoflavonoid from the bulbs of *Cremastra appendiculate*, namely cremastranone, was able to inhibit tube formation, migration, and (bFGF)-induced invasion of HUVECs in-vitro [140]. Moreover, a synthetic derivative of cremastranone "SH-11037" has been developed and showed synergism alongside other anti-VEGF treatments in *in-vivo* and *in-vitro* models of ocular neovascularization [141].

3. Invasion and Migration

The extracellular matrix (ECM) is a scaffold composed of a variety of components including laminins, elastin, fibronectin, collagen and other glycoproteins [142]. The degradation of the ECM by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) has been associated with the invasion and metastasis of cancer cells for over than four decades now [143]. The role of MMPs in tumorigenesis isn't solely dependent on their ability to remodel the ECM and influence cell migration; but also, on their ability to modulate other cell signaling pathways related to cell growth, inflammation and angiogenesis [144]. It has been demonstrated, that the use of an inhibitor of MMPs in combination with a HER-2/neu kinase inhibitor synergistically impedes

the growth of breast cancer xenografts [145]. A study showed that the treatment of MCF-7/HER-2 neu cells with the homoisoflavonoid "brazilin" causes the downregulation of matrix metalloproteinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 as well as the expression of HER-2 receptor [146].

G. A Novel Homoisoflavonoid: 7-O-Methylpunctatin

As mentioned earlier, homoisoflavonoids constitute a rare class of natural compounds that are interesting due to their wide array of biological effects [55]. 7-O-Methylpunctatin (7MP) is a sappanin-type homoisoflavonoid extracted and purified from *Bellevalia eigii* which is a plant that belongs to the Asparagaceae family [147].



Figure 6 Chemical structure of 7-O-Methylpunctatin

Our laboratory has recently published on the effects of 7MP on the phenotypic switch of human arteriolar smooth muscle cells [148]. The switch to a synthetic phenotype is characterized by an increased invasion, migration, and proliferation of formerly contractile vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) [149]. In the published study, 7MP decreased FBSinduced cell proliferation, migration, invasion, and adhesion of microVSMCs [148]. Remarkably, 7MP was also able to abolish FBS-induced expression of MMP-2, MMP-9, and NFκB, as well as reducing the activation of ERK1/2 [148]. The depicted 7MP effects suggest that it may amend arteriolar inflammation and possibly considered cardio-protective [148]. Since inflammation is now well-recognized to be a major player in the onset and progression of many tumors including breast cancer, this renders 7MP a potential modulator of signaling pathways in breast cancer.

H. Rationale and Hypothesis

The search for a more effective therapeutic regimen for breast cancer is a prime goal. And since inflammation mediated by COX-2 have been intricately linked to breast cancer malignancy, finding a molecule that could inhibit inflammation and hallmarks of breast cancer is a tempting option. Interestingly, homoisoflavonoids, a family of phytochemical polyphenols, have been reported to possess anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer activities. Moreover, 7MP belongs to the family of homoisoflavonoids and is originally found in nature. We therefore aim to:

- 1. To synthesize and characterize the homoisoflavonoid 7MP.
- 2. Assess the ability of 7-O-methylpunctatin to attenuate the basal and COX-2-induced malignant phenotype of breast cancer cells.

We hypothesize that 7MP can attenuate the inflammation-potentiated malignant phenotype of breast cancer cells by targeting COX-2 or COX-2 mediated pathways.

CHAPTER II

MATERIALS & METHODS

A. Materials used in the synthesis:

Benzene-1,3,5-triol, acylating agent, aluminum chloride, benzyl chloride, hexamethylphosphoramide (HMPA), dichloromethane, methanol, ethanol, ethyl formate, sodium hydride, hydrochloric acid, Lindlar's Catalyst, cellite, methyl iodide, potassium carbonate, potassium persulfate, potassium hydroxide, silica.

B. Materials used in biological assays:

1. Cell Culture:

The breast adenocarcinoma cell lines MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 were both cultured in *Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium* – High Glucose (DMEM-HG) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Cells were grown in 10 mm dishes and maintained in a humidified incubator at 37°C with 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Culture medium was changed every 48 hours and cells were split in a ratio of 1 to 4 once reaching 90% confluence. Culture media and FBS were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Penicillin/streptomycin was obtained from Lonza.

2. Wound healing or scratch Assay:

MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded in a 12-wells plate ($6x10^5$ cells/well) in 1 ml of DMEM-HG. When the cells reached around 90% confluency, a scratch was created manually

through the confluent monolayer using a yellow P10 tip $(2-20 \mu l)$. The culture medium was then aspirated, and wells were washed with PBS to remove cellular debris. Complete fresh medium was then added.

The control wells were treated with 0.1% DMSO and the treatment condition of the other wells was 20 μM of 7MP.

Photomicrographs were taken at baseline (0 hour) and consecutively every two hours until 12 hours. ZEN lite from Zeiss Microscope software was used to measure the width of the scratch which reflected the extent of cell migration. The distance migrated was measured in μ m.

3. Viability Assay:

Cell viability was determined by 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. MTT was obtained from abcam (ab146345). MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded in 96-well plates (6000 cells/well) in 200 μ l complete DMEM. 24 hours later, media were aspirated, and fresh medium was added. Vehicle treated cells (0.1% DMSO) represented the control group. Cells were treated with increasing concentrations of 7MP (10, 20, 40, 60, 80, 100 μ M) at three different time points (24, 48 and 72 hours). 20 μ l MTT (5mg/ml) was then added to each well and cells were incubated at 37 °C for 3 hours. All culture media were then removed, and the formazan violet crystals were dissolved in 200 μ l DMSO. Treatments were performed in duplicates. Cell viability was assessed colorimetrically at a wavelength of 595 nm using Elisa Multiscan EX Reader (Thermo), where the intensity of violet color is directly proportional to the number of viable cells.

4. Transient Transfections:

Cells were transiently transfected with COX-2 plasmid using Lipofectamine 2000, to achieve an approximate 80% transfection efficiency. Cells were then allowed to recover overnight in complete growth medium.

5. Western blotting:

Cells were lysed using 10 mM Tris pH 6.8, 2% SDS. Proteins were quantified by DC protein assay kit (Bio-Rad, USA). Protein samples were then loaded (30-50µg) on 5-11% SDS-PAGE along with protein ladder (Abcam), electrophoresed at 70 V (Bio-Rad, USA) and then transferred to PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad, USA). After blocking with 5% fat free dry milk in TBS-T (TBS and 0.05% Tween 20) for 1 hour at room temperature, the blots were probed with primary antibody at 4 °C overnight. Blots were then washed three times with TBS-T and incubated with Horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody (diluted 1:2000) for 1 hour at room temperature. Immunoreactive bands were finally detected by ECL chemiluminescent substrate (Bio-Rad, USA). Blot images were taken by using Chemidoc MP Imaging system.

6. In-cell ELISA

Cells are seeded in 96-well plate. After the adherence of cells, they are treated with 7MP (20µM) or with DMSO as for control. After 1 hour of treatment, fix the cells with 8% paraformaldehyde and let them incubate for 15 minutes. Aspirate the wells then wash with 1X PBS. Add 200µl of 1X permeabilization buffer to each well and incubate for 30 minutes.

Aspirate the permeabilization buffer then add blocking buffer and incubate for 2 hours. Add primary antibody to each well and incubate for overnight at 4°C. Remove primary antibody then wash 3X using 1X wash buffer. Remove wash buffer then add diluted secondary antibody (HRP conjugated) and incubate for 2 hours. Remove secondary antibody then wash wells with 1X wash buffer. After that, add 100 μ l/well of HRP substrate then read using a colorimeter.

7. NF-KB luciferase Rerpoter

Cells were transiently transfected with NF- κ B-driven promoter luciferase using Amaxa Nucleofector (Amaxa Biosystems, Gaithersburg, MD, USA). Renilla luciferase vector was used as an internal control, to which firefly luciferase values were normalized. Following transfection, cells were left to recover overnight, then treated with 7MP (20 μ M) or DMSO for control. After 24 hours, luciferin is added to the wells luminescence is measured by a luminometer.

8. Analysis of PGE₂ Production

PGE₂ levels were measured using the PGE₂ Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (R&D Systems) according to manufacturer's protocol.

9. Cell Cycle Analysis

Cells were treated for 48 h with complete medium in the absence or presence of 7MP. After washing the cells by PBS, cells were trypsinized then collected by centrifugation. Collected

cells were then washed twice with cold PBS then resuspended in 500 μ L of PBS. The cells were then fixed by 2 mL of ice-cold pure ethanol for 15 minutes. This suspension was centrifuged again, and the pellet was washed with PBS. Cells were then incubated for 10 min in 1 mg/mL of propidium iodide in PBS. Propidium iodide (PI) fluorescence was read using Guava EasyCyte8 Flow Cytometer (Luminex, Hayward, CA, USA). Cell cycle analysis was done using Guava Soft 2.7 software.

10. Caspase-Glo assay

The 96-well plates containing treated cells are removed from the incubator and allowed to equilibrate to room temperature. 100µl of Caspase-Glo 3/7 reagent is added to each well containing control cells or treated cells in culture medium. The plate is then sealed. The contents of wells are then mixed gently using a shaker at 300 rpm for 30 seconds. Incubate at room temperature for 1 hour. Finally, the luminescence of each sample is measured in a plate-reading luminometer.

11. Chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assay

Fertilized eggs were put in a 37°C incubator humidified (50%) with rotation. After a week of incubation, a small window is created using sharp metal edge above the CAM. After this window was made, $30 \ \mu$ L of $20 \ \mu$ M of 7MP prepared in PBS was added above the CAM and for the control the same amount with DMSO in PBS was used. The window was then sealed with parafilm and the egg was returned to the same incubator. Images were taken after 24 hrs and analyzed using AngioTool.

12. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed by a student's t-test for either paired or unpaired observations using GraphPad Prism. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM, where n is equal to the number of times an experiment is repeated (n will be = 3). When more than two means are used for comparison, ANOVA was used: either one-way ANOVA (with Dunnett's post hoc test) or two-way ANOVA (with Tukey-Kramer's post hoc test). p < 0.05 is considered significant.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

A. Synthesis of 7-O-Methylpunctatin

The synthesis of 7MP starts with the acylation of benzene-1,3,5-triol (1) yielding 1-(2,4,6trihydroxyphenyl)ethan-1-one (2). Benzyl chloride was then added to (2) alongside K_2CO_3 as a base and Hexamethylphosphoramide (HMPA) as a solvent; a reaction that gives off 1-(2,4bis(benzyloxy)-6-hydroxyphenyl)ethan-1-one (3) as a product. (3) is then dissolved in ethyl formate at -10 °C then sodium hydride (NaH) is added to the mixture and kept stirring. After 4 hours of stirring, methanol (MeOH) and hydrochloric acid (HCl) are added to the reaction mixture consecutively to obtain 5,7-bis(benzyloxy)-4H-chromen-4-one (4). (4) is then hydrogenated using Palladium over carbon as a catalyst yielding 5,7-dihydroxychroman-4-one (5). A two-step methylation reaction is then performed by deprotonating the hydroxyl group of (5) using K_2CO_3 followed by the addition of a methyl group using methyl iodide. An Elbs persulfate oxidation reaction is then performed on (6) using K₂S₂O₈ and KOH which then gives 5,8-dihydroxy-7-methoxychroman-4-one (7). A second methylation reaction is then performed on (7) that produced 5-hydroxy-7,8-dimethoxychroman-4-one (8). A protected benzaldehyde namely 4-(methoxymethoxy)benzaldehyde is then left to react with (8) in a solution of ethanol (E)-5-hydroxy-7,8-dimethoxy-3-(4and KOH overnight producing (methoxymethoxy)benzylidene)chroman-4-one (9). Methanol and diluted HCl are then used to deprotect (9), a reaction that lead to our final product which is (E)-5-hydroxy-3-(4hydroxybenzylidene)-7,8-dimethoxychroman-4-one (10) also known as 7-O-methylpunctatin.



Figure 7 Synthesis route of 7MP

1. The 1H-NMR spectrum of synthesized 7MP

The ¹H NMR spectrum of 7MP exhibits the following types of signals; a) two sharp singlets around 9.7 ppm and 8.3 ppm corresponding to the secondary amine groups protons for the hydrazide; b) a broad singlet between 6.3-6.5 ppm corresponding to the primary amine groups

protons for the triazine; (c) two characteristic triplets around 2.6 ppm and 4 ppm, corresponding to the two methylene group protons.



Figure 8 H¹NMR Spectrum for 7MP

2. X-ray Crystallography of 7-O-Methylpunctatin



Figure 9 Crystallography structure of 7MP

3. Effect of 7MP on the viability of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells.

Cell viability by MTT assay was evaluated in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell lines treated with 7MP at various concentrations (0, 20 μ M, 40 μ M, 60 μ M, 80 μ M, 100 μ M). 7MP decreased the viability of both the MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines in a concentration and time-dependent manner. Indeed, with the lowest concentration (20 μ M), 7MP attenuated cellular viability to 60 ± 2.80 % and 71.79 ± 2.80 % in MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells respectively after 72 hours (**Figures 8-9**). This suggests that 7MP exerts an anti-proliferative effect on breast cancer cells.



Figure 10 7MP decreases the viability of MDA-MB-231 cells in a time and concentrationdependent manner

MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with increasing concentrations of 7MP (20, 40, 60, 80 and 100 μ M) for 24, 48, 72 hours, and cellular viability was determined by MTT. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.005. Two-way ANOVA was performed.



Figure 11 7MP decreases the viability of MCF7 cells in a time and concentration-dependent manner.

MCF-7 cells were treated with increasing concentrations of 7MP (20, 40, 60, 80 and 100 μ M) for 24, 48, 72 hours, and cellular viability was determined by MTT. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.005. Two-way ANOVA was performed.

4. 7MP affects cell cycle progression

After determining the anti-proliferative effect of 7MP on breast cancer cells, we then sought to examine the effect it has on the cell cycle progression. As seen in the (**Figure 10**), there is a G0/G1 arrest in MDA-MB-231 cells treated with 7MP (20 μ M). This means that 7MP reduces the growth of breast cancer cells by G0/G1 cell cycle arrest.



Figure 12 7MP induces cell cycle arrest at G0/G1.

MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with 20 μ M of 7MP for 48 hours. Then, cells were stained with PI and flow cytometry was performed. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments.

5. 7MP targets COX-2 but not COX-1 expression.

It is important to investigate whether 7MP decreases the protein levels of both COX-1 and

COX-2. Therefore, MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with or without 7MP (20 μ M) for 24

hours and protein levels were determined by western blot. Interestingly, results showed that

7MP significantly decreased the protein levels of COX-2 (from 1 to 0.42 folds) but not COX-1 (1 to 1.07 folds) in MDA-MB-231 cells (**Figure 11**). This means that 7MP targets specifically one of the two isoforms of cyclooxygenase enzyme; namely COX-2.



Figure 13 7MP decreases COX-2 but not COX-1

MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with 20 μ M of 7MP for 24 hours. Then, expression levels of COX-1 and COX-2 were determined by using western blotting with levels of β actin as control. Values represent mean of fold change of three independent experiments.

6. 7MP decreases the amount of released PgE2 in MDA-MB-231.

 PgE_2 is the major tumorigenic product of COX-2 in breast cancer. So, we sought to determine whether 7MP could affect the levels of PgE2. Interestingly, there is a significant decrease of PgE_2 from 7MP treated cells compared to the vehicle treated ones in both the parent and COX-2 overexpressing cells (**Figure 12**). This further validates that 7MP acts against COX-2 or at least a COX-2 mediated pathway.



Figure 14 7MP decreases the amount of PgE2 released in MDA-MB-231

MDA-MB-231 (parent and COX-2 overexpressing) cells were treated with 20 and 40 μ M of 7MP for 24 hours. Then, the secreted levels of PgE2 were determined by using ELISA. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments \pm SEM. One-way ANOVA was performed, *p < 0.05, and **p < 0.01.

7. 7MP affects apoptotic markers.

When DNA repair fails, apoptosis which is also known as programmed cell death occurs. Caspases are the family of proteases that play an intricate role in apoptosis. Caspases 3, 6, and 7 are three "executioner" caspases that carry out the major proteolysis activity that lead to apoptosis. Since we showed that 7MP caused a cell cycle arrest in MDA-MB-231 cells we then wanted to check for the level of caspases. We also wanted to examine the effect of COX-2 overexpression on the level of caspases.

As seen in the (**Figure 13**), overexpressing COX-2 decreased the activities caspases 3/7 compared to the parent cell line. However, 7MP significantly increased the activities of

caspases 3 and 7 in both parent and COX-2 overexpressing cell lines in a concentrationdependent manner. Thus, 7MP induces apoptotic cell death in MDA-MB-231 cells and in the COX-2 overexpressing ones.



Figure 15 7MP induces caspase3/7

MDA-MB-231 (parent and COX-2 overexpressing) cells were treated with 20 and 40 μ M of 7MP for 48 hours. Then, levels of caspase3/7 were determined by using caspase-glo assay. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments as mean \pm SEM. One-way ANOVA was performed, *p < 0.05, and **p < 0.01.

8. 7MP inhibits migration of MCF-7 cells.

Next, we examined the effect of 7MP on the migratory potential of cells by using the wound healing scratch assay. In fact, treatment of cells with 20 μ M significantly attenuated cellular migration within 2 hours as compared to control (**Figure 14**). In addition, this anti-migratory effect was in a time-dependent manner. Thus, 7MP could induce anti-migratory effect on MDA-MB-231 cells.



Figure 16 7MP inhibits the migration of MCF7 cells in a time dependent manner.

MCF7 cells were treated with 7MP (20 μ M) and cell migration was assessed using wound healing assay. Distance migrated of MCF7 cells were represented as mean \pm SEM. *p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01. One-way ANOVA was performed. Data represent the mean of how many? independent experiments \pm SEM.



9. 7MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced NF- κ B activity in MDA-MB-231 cells.

Nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) is a transcription factor that is considered one of the major molecules that link inflammation and cancer. So, we wanted to evaluate the effect of 7MP on the activity of the pro-inflammatory molecule NF- κ B. COX-2 overexpression increased NF-

κB activity significantly which is expected and aligns with the literature (Figure

15).Importantly, 7MP was able to inhibit both the basal and COX-2 induced NF- κ B activity in MDA-MB-231 cells.



Figure 17 7MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced NF-KB activity in MDA-MB-231 cells

MDA-MB-231 (parent and COX-2 overexpressing) cells were treated with 20 μ M of 7MP. Then, NF- κ B activity was determined by using the luciferase assay. Here the vehicle treated is MDA-MB-231 parent cell line are considered 100 to which every other group is compared to. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments \pm SEM. One-way ANOVA was performed, *p < 0.05.

10. 7MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced ERK1/2 in MDA-MB-231 cells.

The increased activity of the MAPK group ERK1/2 is associated with a malignant

phenotype. ERK1/2 gets activated upon different signals including inflammation which is

further pronounced in MDA-MB-231 cells over expressing COX-2. Indeed, COX-2

overexpression increased the level of phosphorylated ERK to total ERK. In addition, 20 µM

treatment of 7MP did attenuate both basal and COX-2 induced activation of ERK. Therefore,

7MP could exert its anti-cancer effect through inhibiting the ERK1/2 pathway.



Figure 18 7MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced ERK1/2 in MDA-MB-231 cells

MDA-MB-231 (parent and COX-2 overexpressing) cells were treated with 20 μ M of 7MP. Then, pERK/total ERK activity was determined by using the In-cell ELISA. Here the vehicle treated is MDA-MB-231 parent cell line are considered 100 to which every other group is compared to. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments. One-way ANOVA was performed, *p < 0.05, and **p < 0.01.

11. 7MP inhibits angiogenesis in CAM model.

Angiogenesis is a crucial process in tumor development and metastasis. Thus, we wanted to check the effect of 7MP on the formation of blood vessels by using the CAM model. Interestingly, as shown in (**Figure 17**), 7MP significantly inhibited angiogenesis in this model which is depicted by the strikingly significant drop in vessel area (-20.68 \pm 3.75 % for 7MPtreated vs 8.85 \pm 3.49 % for control) and number of junctions (-32.68 \pm 13.75 % for 7MPtreated vs 8.85 \pm 3.49 % for control) after 24 hours of treatment. Thus, these results indicate that 7MP inhibits angiogenesis in-ovo.



Figure 19 7MP inhibits angiogenesis in-ovo

7MP (20 μ M) was added on the CAM of EB6 embryo. Photographs (A) taken 24 h after treatment show the change in vessels area (B) and the total number of junctions (C). Values are represented as mean \pm SEM. **p < 0.01.

CHAPTER IV DISCUSSION

Breast cancer remains the most common type of cancer in females worldwide [150]. In developed countries, diet-related factors are held accountable for around 30% of all cancers including breast cancer. The consumption of fruits, vegetables, legumes and green tea have appeared to be protective against cancer; a property attributed to the phytochemicals found in these plants [151, 152]. Moreover, epidemiological and pre-clinical evidence suggest that polyphenolic phytochemicals have chemo-preventative properties against breast cancer [151]. In fact, phytochemical polyphenols have been reported to act as antioxidants, decrease the proliferation of cancer cells and block pro-inflammatory cytokines and transcription factors that mediate cancer progression [153]. All in all, these properties culminate in these compounds' ability to reduce inflammation and cancer recurrence [153].

Homoisoflavonoids are polyphenolic phytochemicals that possess great potential yet are still poorly investigated in the context of breast cancer. Here, we report the synthesis of a homoisoflavonoid previously isolated from the plant *bellevalia eigii* and named "7-Omethylpunctatin". We then evaluated its biological activity against breast cancer cell lines in regular and 'inflamed-like' conditions.

Clinical, epidemiological and experimental studies all support the notion that inflammation and cancer are tightly related [154, 155]. Among the major mediators of cancer and inflammation are NF-κB, TNF, and COX-2. These molecular players promote inflammation and tumor progression through the enhancement of cancer cell proliferation, metastasis and anti-apoptotic activity [156]. Of these players, COX-2 is over expressed in different cancers including breast cancer. COX-2, unlike COX-1, is detected in tumor breast

tissue but not in normal tissue [157]. It is overexpressed by around 40% in tumor tissue and by around 80% in ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) [158]. Celecoxib, a selective COX-2 inhibitor, has been associated with the reduced risk and prevention of breast cancer [159]. However, a major drawback of celecoxib use is its associated cardiotoxicity [160]. Results from our laboratory demonstrated that 7MP prevents both platelet aggregation (data not published) and dedifferentiation of micro VSMCs implying a cardioprotective advantage [148]. Interestingly, in this report we show that 7MP specifically targets COX-2 but not COX-1 in the aggressive breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231.

COX-2 converts arachidonic acid into PGE₂ [161]. PGE₂ in itself has been shown to promote breast cancer through: immunosuppression [162], angiogenesis [163], stem-like cell (SLC) formation [164], and migration [165]. Here, we report that 7MP reduces PGE₂ release from breast cancer cells.

7MP exhibited an anti-proliferative effect against the two breast cancer cell lines: MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7. The cytotoxic effect of 7MP on MCF-7 cells (ER α (+)) and MDA-MB-231 cells (ER α (-)) was observed in a time and concentration-dependent manner. Notably, a major problem faced when examining the anti-breast cancer properties of phytochemicals is that they might exert a biphasic effect on estrogen-dependent cancer models by activating ER α receptors[166, 167]. This major drawback is not observed in our study since no proliferative effect was observed by 7MP on both cell lines at a wide range of concentrations of 7MP.

The tumor microenvironment employs pro-inflammatory molecules such as ROS, cytokines, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and NF- κ B to provide a suitable niche for cancer cell growth [168]. Different nuclear transcription factors including NF- κ B can

upregulate the constitutive expression of COX-2 due to the various binding sites at the promoter region of the COX-2 gene [169]. Here we show that 7MP inhibits basal and COX-2 induced NF-κB activity. Importantly, COX-2 is known to activate one of the major components of the tumor microenvironment; the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in an NF- κB dependent manner [170]. MMPs degrade the components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) and therefore are needed for the migration and invasion of cancer cells. In addition, a prerequisite step for cancer cell migration is the adhesion to components of the ECM. The expression of the receptors for the adhesion molecule "integrin" on the surface of breast cancer cells has been associated with different metastatic behavior [171]. Previous studies have shown that an interaction between the ECM proteins "fibronectin" and "vitronectin" with integrins causes an elevation in the expression of more than 30 genes involved in tumor progression [172, 173]. Therefore, the inhibition of the adhesion of integrins to fibronectin has been shown to decrease invasion and migration of breast cancer cells [174]. 7MP decreased the migratory capacity of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells as seen in the wound healing experiment. It is expected that the levels of MMPs and adhesion of breast cancer cells to the components of the ECM would decrease upon the treatment with 7MP however this still needs to be confirmed the proper assays.

The irregularity in the MAPK signaling pathways, allows for the initiation and progression of various malignancies. Among the three major MAPK groups, ERK1/2 is the most relevant to breast cancer. It can be activated by different factors including hormones, oxidative stress, and inflammatory cytokines [175]. Upstream of ERK1/2, the interplay between hormones and the PI3-K-dependent pathways activate Akt and PKC zeta [176]. This activation then leads Akt to increase the transcription of cyclin D1 and PKC zeta, allowing the

activation and nuclear translocation of ERK2 [177]. This interplay of signaling pathways with cell cycle regulators allows for the cells to enter the S phase leading to increased cellular proliferation and tumor growth [176, 177]. In 50% of breast tumors, MAPK signaling is more active compared to the benign tissues surrounding them [175]. Numerous investigators have shown that, the transfection of breast cancer cells with COX-2 elevated ERK1/2 phosphorylation level compared to the non-transfected cells. Excitingly, 7MP was able to reduce the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 in basal and COX-2 induced conditions of breast cancer cells.

In addition, the ERK/MAPK pathway is involved in cell cycle progression [178]. The multiple checkpoints during the cell cycle are present to ensure that damaged DNA is not transmitted to daughter cells; however, if DNA is not repaired, apoptotic cascade is activated [179]. Both ERK1 and ERK2 enhance the transcription of cyclin D1 by inhibiting its transcription corepressor TOB, which is a critical protein for the progression through the G1 phase [180]. In fact, cyclin D1 has been reported as an oncogene that is elevated by ~50% in human breast cancers allowing these cells to evade the G1 checkpoint [181]. The treatment of MDA-MB-231 cells with 7MP caused a G0/G1 arrest and we speculate that it is through decreasing ERK1/2 activity and consequently affecting cyclin D1 transcription. Further examination of p27 and p53 proteins is warranted in order to investigate the players our compound utilizes in causing this cell cycle arrest.

Programmed cell death or apoptosis is an essential process that rids the body of abnormal cells in order to keep the organism stable. However, in the case of carcinogenesis cancer cells escape it and further promote the malignant phenotype. Apoptosis generally occurs when the genome repair initiated by the tumor suppressor protein p53 fails, in order to

prevent the transmission of damaged DNA [182]. The genes involved in apoptosis include the antiapoptotic bcl-2 and the pro-apoptotic bax [183]. Apoptosis occurs when bcl-2/bax ratio is low [184]. The mechanism in which bcl-2/bax ratio leads to apoptosis is related to cytochrome c, a molecule that activates the caspase cascade when released from the mitochondrial membrane [185]. Moreover, caspases are critical mediators of apoptosis through mitochondrial events [185]. We therefore investigated the effect of 7MP treatment on caspases 3 and 7. Evidently, 7MP increases the levels of caspases 3 and 7 which are the early markers of apoptosis.

Finally, a process that primes tumors for proliferation, progression and metastasis is angiogenesis [186]. This process of vessels sprouting from pre-existing ones is controlled by angiogenesis inducers (such as growth factors, adhesion molecules, chemokines) and angiogenesis inhibitors (such as endostatin and canstatin) [187]. VEGF is the most prominent family in the process of angiogenesis with VEGF-A being the most investigated member [188]. Bevacizumab, an antibody that targets VEGF-A, is an FDA-approved anti-angiogenic drug [189]. For this purpose, we used the chick chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) model to assess for anti-angiogenic activity of 7MP. Interestingly, we found that there is a significant inhibition in blood vessel sprouting when the CAM model is treated with 20µM of 7MP. This is promising because although there are several drugs that aim to inhibit angiogenesis via targeting VEGF such as bevacizumab (Avastin), they are associated with side effects and resistance [139]. Finding a molecule that could target VEGF and hence be used with existing anti-VEGF therapy or as anti-VEGF therapy on its own is therefore favorable in the treatment of breast cancer.

CHAPTER V CONCLUSION

The overexpression of COX-2 in breast cancer cells potentiated the malignant phenotype by increasing proliferation, ERK1/2 activation, NF- κ B activity, and decreasing the levels of apoptotic caspases. Excitingly, our study suggests that 7MP could reverse this exaggerated malignant phenotype caused by COX-2 overexpression. Moreover, 7MP was also able to attenuate the basal migratory, adhesive, and proliferative capacities of breast cancer cells. 7MP also caused breast cancer cells to accumulate in G0/G1 and increased the levels of apoptotic markers. Lastly, 20 μ M of 7MP were able to attenuate angiogenesis in CAM model. What is reported here is an indicative of the great potential 7MP possesses in attenuating the basal and COX-2 induced malignant phenotype of breast cancer cells.

CHAPTER VI

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

- Loss of function experiments should be done to check for the role of EP4 receptors and if it indeed acts through COX-2/PGE2/EP4 pathway.
- Use 7MP treatment along with other breast cancer chemotherapeutic drugs in order to check if they act synergistically or not.
- We did not use multiple cell lines for all experiments; we therefore opt to test 7MP on a battery of breast cancer cells with different receptor expressions.
- We did not test the pharmacokinetic profile of this compound and whether it could be used in more advanced models.
- We need to perform binding assays to check for the specific target of our compound.
- We should test the compound on a wider array of molecules than what we already did (check its effect on interleukins, NO production, MMPs, EMT markers etc.)
- Compare 7MP effect with Celecoxibs and NSAIDs.
- If the compound did show promising effects on a wide battery of breast cancer cell lines, invivo experiments should be opted for next.

REFERENCES

- 1. ; Available from: <u>https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer/cancer-trends/worldwide-cancer-data</u>
- 2. Collaborators, G.B.D.C.o.D., Global, regional, and national age-sex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet, 2017. **390**(10100): p. 1151-1210.
- 3. *Breast Cancer*. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/cancer/prevention/diagnosis-</u> screening/breast-cancer/en/.
- 4. Fares, M.Y., et al., *Breast Cancer Epidemiology among Lebanese Women: An 11-Year Analysis.* Medicina-Lithuania, 2019. **55**(8).
- 5. Torre, L.A., et al., *Global cancer statistics*, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin, 2015. **65**(2): p. 87-108.
- 6. Fitzmaurice, C., et al., Global, Regional, and National Cancer Incidence, Mortality, Years of Life Lost, Years Lived With Disability, and Disability-Adjusted Life-Years for 29 Cancer Groups, 1990 to 2016 A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. Jama Oncology, 2018. **4**(11): p. 1553-1568.
- 7. Bucholc, M., et al., *[Women's opinion of the risk of breast cancer]*. Ginekol Pol, 2001. **72**(12A): p. 1460-4.
- 8. *Breast Cancer Risk Factors* Available from: <u>https://www.breastcancer.org/symptoms/understand_bc/risk/factors</u>.
- 9. Siegel, R.L., K.D. Miller, and A. Jemal, *Cancer Statistics*, 2017. Ca-a Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 2017. **67**(1): p. 7-30.
- 10. Brewer, H.R., et al., *Family history and risk of breast cancer: an analysis accounting for family structure.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2017. **165**(1): p. 193-200.
- 11. Nattinger, A.B. and J.L. Mitchell, *Breast Cancer Screening and Prevention*. Ann Intern Med, 2016. **164**(11): p. ITC81-ITC96.
- 12. Washbrook, E., Women's Health Medicine. **3**(1).
- 13. Anderson, K.N., R.B. Schwab, and M.E. Martinez, *Reproductive risk factors and breast cancer subtypes: a review of the literature.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2014. **144**(1): p. 1-10.
- 14. Colditz, G.A. and K. Bohlke, *Priorities for the primary prevention of breast cancer*. CA Cancer J Clin, 2014. **64**(3): p. 186-94.
- 15. Endogenous, H., et al., *Sex hormones and risk of breast cancer in premenopausal women: a collaborative reanalysis of individual participant data from seven prospective studies.* Lancet Oncol, 2013. **14**(10): p. 1009-19.
- 16. Stuenkel, C.A., et al., *Treatment of Symptoms of the Menopause: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2015. **100**(11): p. 3975-4011.
- 17. Ravdin, P.M., et al., *The decrease in breast-cancer incidence in 2003 in the United States*. N Engl J Med, 2007. **356**(16): p. 1670-4.
- 18. Bleyer, A. and H.G. Welch, *Effect of three decades of screening mammography on breast-cancer incidence*. N Engl J Med, 2012. **367**(21): p. 1998-2005.
- 19. Mainiero, M.B., et al., *ACR Appropriateness Criteria Breast Cancer Screening*. J Am Coll Radiol, 2016. **13**(11S): p. R45-R49.
- 20. Breast Cancer: Screening. November 2016; Available from: <u>https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/document/RecommendationStatementFinal/breast-cancer-screening</u>.
- 21. Testa, U., G. Castelli, and E. Pelosi, *Breast Cancer: A Molecularly Heterogenous Disease Needing Subtype-Specific Treatments.* Med Sci (Basel), 2020. **8**(1).
- 22. Provenzano, E., G.A. Ulaner, and S.F. Chin, *Molecular Classification of Breast Cancer*. PET Clin, 2018. **13**(3): p. 325-338.

- 23. Perou, C.M., et al., *Molecular portraits of human breast tumours*. Nature, 2000. **406**(6797): p. 747-52.
- 24. Sorlie, T., et al., *Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(19): p. 10869-74.
- 25. Sorlie, T., et al., *Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(14): p. 8418-23.
- 26. Brenton, J.D., et al., *Molecular classification and molecular forecasting of breast cancer: ready for clinical application?* J Clin Oncol, 2005. **23**(29): p. 7350-60.
- 27. Howlader, N., et al., *US incidence of breast cancer subtypes defined by joint hormone receptor and HER2 status.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 2014. **106**(5).
- 28. (AJCC), A.J.C.o.C.; Available from: <u>https://cancerstaging.org/Pages/default.aspxA</u>.
- 29. Chavez-MacGregor, M., et al., *Incorporating Tumor Characteristics to the American Joint Committee on Cancer Breast Cancer Staging System*. Oncologist, 2017. **22**(11): p. 1292-1300.
- 30. Bardia, A., et al., *Efficacy and Safety of Anti-Trop-2 Antibody Drug Conjugate Sacituzumab Govitecan (IMMU-132) in Heavily Pretreated Patients With Metastatic Triple-Negative Breast Cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2017. **35**(19): p. 2141-2148.
- 31. Swain, S.M., et al., *Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and docetaxel in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer.* N Engl J Med, 2015. **372**(8): p. 724-34.
- 32. Cardoso, F., et al., *4th ESO-ESMO International Consensus Guidelines for Advanced Breast Cancer (ABC 4)dagger*. Ann Oncol, 2018. **29**(8): p. 1634-1657.
- 33. Ahmad, S., et al., *Herceptin resistance database for understanding mechanism of resistance in breast cancer patients.* Sci Rep, 2014. **4**: p. 4483.
- Alluri, P., Basal-Like and Triple-Negative Breast Cancers Searching for Positives Among Many Negatives (vol 23, pg 569, 2014). Surgical Oncology Clinics of North America, 2014.
 23(4): p. Xv-Xv.
- 35. Reis-Filho, J.S. and A.N. Tutt, *Triple negative tumours: a critical review*. Histopathology, 2008. **52**(1): p. 108-18.
- 36. Coates, A., et al., *On the Receiving End Patient Perception of the Side-Effects of Cancer-Chemotherapy*. European Journal of Cancer & Clinical Oncology, 1983. **19**(2): p. 203-208.
- 37. Clarke, M., et al., *Effects of radiotherapy and of differences in the extent of surgery for early breast cancer on local recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials.* Lancet, 2005. **366**(9503): p. 2087-106.
- 38. Doyle, L.A., et al., *A multidrug resistance transporter from human MCF-7 breast cancer cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. **95**(26): p. 15665-70.
- 39. Ullah, M.F., *Cancer multidrug resistance (MDR): a major impediment to effective chemotherapy*. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 2008. **9**(1): p. 1-6.
- 40. Burstein, H.J., et al., *Use of alternative medicine by women with early-stage breast cancer*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1999. **340**(22): p. 1733-1739.
- 41. Henderson, J.W. and R.J. Donatelle, *Complementary and alternative medicine use by women after completion of allopathic treatment for breast cancer.* Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine, 2004. **10**(1): p. 52-57.
- 42. Adler, S.R. and J.R. Fosket, *Disclosing complementary and alternative medicine use in the medical encounter A qualitative study in women with breast cancer*. Journal of Family Practice, 1999. **48**(6): p. 453-458.
- 43. Boon, H.S., F. Olatunde, and S.M. Zick, *Trends in complementary/alternative medicine use by breast cancer survivors: comparing survey data from 1998 and 2005.* BMC Womens Health, 2007. **7**: p. 4.
- 44. Taie, H.A.A., Z.A. Salama, and S. Radwan, *Potential Activity of Basil Plants as a Source of Antioxidants and Anticancer Agents as Affected by Organic and Bio-organic Fertilization*. Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca, 2010. **38**(1): p. 119-127.

- 45. Khazaei Koohpar, Z., et al., *Anticancer Activity of Curcumin on Human Breast Adenocarcinoma: Role of Mcl-1 Gene.* Iran J Cancer Prev, 2015. **8**(3): p. e2331.
- 46. Newman, D.J. and G.M. Cragg, *Natural Products as Sources of New Drugs over the Nearly Four Decades from 01/1981 to 09/2019.* Journal of Natural Products, 2020. **83**(3): p. 770-803.
- 47. Ferrini, K., et al., *Lifestyle, nutrition and breast cancer: facts and presumptions for consideration.* Ecancermedicalscience, 2015. **9**: p. 557.
- 48. Batra, P. and A.K. Sharma, *Anti-cancer potential of flavonoids: recent trends and future perspectives.* 3 Biotech, 2013. **3**(6): p. 439-459.
- 49. Vernarelli, J.A. and J.D. Lambert, *Flavonoid intake is inversely associated with obesity and Creactive protein, a marker for inflammation, in US adults.* Nutrition & Diabetes, 2017. **7**.
- 50. Sak, K., Intake of Individual Flavonoids and Risk of Carcinogenesis: Overview of Epidemiological Evidence. Nutr Cancer, 2017. **69**(8): p. 1119-1150.
- 51. Magne Nde, C.B., et al., *Flavonoids, Breast Cancer Chemopreventive and/or Chemotherapeutic Agents.* Curr Med Chem, 2015. **22**(30): p. 3434-46.
- 52. Dewick, P.M., *Biosynthesis of the 3-benzylchroman-4-one eucomin in Eucomis bicolor*. Phytochemistry, April 1975. **14**(4).
- 53. Clark, J.L., P. Zahradka, and C.G. Taylor, *Efficacy of flavonoids in the management of high blood pressure*. Nutr Rev, 2015. **73**(12): p. 799-822.
- 54. Bohler, P. and C. Tamm, *Homo-Isoflavones a New Class of Natural Product*. *Isolation and Structure of Eucomin and Eucomol*. Tetrahedron Letters, 1967(36): p. 3479-&.
- 55. Lin, L.G., Q.Y. Liu, and Y. Ye, *Naturally Occurring Homoisoflavonoids and Their Pharmacological Activities.* Planta Medica, 2014. **80**(13): p. 1053-1066.
- 56. du Toit, K., S.E. Drewes, and J. Bodenstein, *The chemical structures, plant origins, ethnobotany and biological activities of homoisoflavanones.* Nat Prod Res, 2010. **24**(5): p. 457-90.
- 57. Machala, M., et al., *Chemoprotective potentials of homoisoflavonoids and chalcones of Dracaena cinnabari: modulations of drug-metabolizing enzymes and antioxidant activity.* Phytother Res, 2001. **15**(2): p. 114-8.
- 58. Wall, M.E., et al., *Plant antimutagens*, 6. *Intricatin and intricatinol, new antimutagenic homoisoflavonoids from Hoffmanosseggia intricata*. J Nat Prod, 1989. **52**(4): p. 774-8.
- 59. Min, B.S., et al., *Compounds from the heartwood of Caesalpinia sappan and their antiinflammatory activity*. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters, 2012. **22**(24): p. 7436-7439.
- 60. Wang, Z., et al., *Caesappin A and B, two novel protosappanins from Caesalpinia sappan L.* Fitoterapia, 2014. **92**: p. 280-4.
- 61. Quintans, J., *Immunity and inflammation: the cosmic view*. Immunol Cell Biol, 1994. **72**(3): p. 262-6.
- 62. Pinlaor, S., et al., *Repeated infection with Opisthorchis viverrini induces accumulation of 8nitroguanine and 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanine in the bile duct of hamsters via inducible nitric oxide synthase.* Carcinogenesis, 2004. **25**(8): p. 1535-42.
- 63. Sarkar, D. and P.B. Fisher, *Molecular mechanisms of aging-associated inflammation*. Cancer Lett, 2006. **236**(1): p. 13-23.
- 64. Kleer, C.G., K.L. van Golen, and S.D. Merajver, *Molecular biology of breast cancer metastasis. Inflammatory breast cancer: clinical syndrome and molecular determinants.* Breast Cancer Res, 2000. **2**(6): p. 423-9.
- 65. Levine, P.H. and C. Veneroso, *The epidemiology of inflammatory breast cancer*. Semin Oncol, 2008. **35**(1): p. 11-6.
- 66. Mantovani, A., et al., *Cancer-related inflammation*. Nature, 2008. **454**(7203): p. 436-44.
- 67. Wang, D. and R.N. Dubois, *Eicosanoids and cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2010. **10**(3): p. 181-93.
- 68. Kim, H.S., et al., *COX2 overexpression is a prognostic marker for Stage III breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2012. **132**(1): p. 51-59.

- 69. *PGE2 produced by lung cancer suppresses immune function through T-regulatory cells and can be blocked by the COX2 inhibitor celebrex.* Cancer Biology & Therapy, 2005. **4**(8): p. V-Vi.
- 70. Banu, N., et al., *Inhibition of COX-2 with NS-398 decreases colon cancer cell motility through blocking epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation: possibilities for combination therapy.* Cell Proliferation, 2007. **40**(5): p. 768-779.
- 71. Ricciotti, E., *Prostaglandins and Inflammation*. 2012.
- 72. Asting, A.G., et al., *Host knockout of E-prostanoid 2 receptors reduces tumor growth and causes major alterations of gene expression in prostaglandin E2-producing tumors.* Oncol Lett, 2017. **13**(1): p. 476-482.
- 73. Du, M.Z., et al., *Prostaglandin E2 promotes human cholangiocarcinoma cell proliferation, migration and invasion through the upregulation of beta-catenin expression via EP3-4 receptor.* Oncology Reports, 2015. **34**(2): p. 715-726.
- 74. Bazzani, L., et al., *PGE2/EP3/SRC signaling induces EGFR nuclear translocation and growth through EGFR ligands release in lung adenocarcinoma cells.* Oncotarget, 2017. **8**(19): p. 31270-31287.
- 75. Reid, G., et al., *The human multidrug resistance protein MRP4 functions as a prostaglandin efflux transporter and is inhibited by nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2003. **100**(16): p. 9244-9249.
- Kochel, T.J. and A.M. Fulton, *Multiple drug resistance-associated protein 4 (MRP4)*, prostaglandin transporter (PGT), and 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase (15-PGDH) as determinants of PGE2 levels in cancer. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat, 2015. 116-117: p. 99-103.
- 77. Tong, D., et al., *The roles of the COX2/PGE2/EP axis in therapeutic resistance*. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 2018. **37**(2-3): p. 355-368.
- 78. Lian, S., et al., *Prostaglandin E2 stimulates urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor via EP2 receptor-dependent signaling pathways in human AGS gastric cancer cells.* Mol Carcinog, 2017. **56**(2): p. 664-680.
- 79. Pan, J., et al., *Cyclooxygenase-2 induced beta1-integrin expression in NSCLC and promoted cell invasion via the EP1/MAPK/E2F-1/FoxC2 signal pathway.* Sci Rep, 2016. **6**: p. 33823.
- 80. Fernandez-Martinez, A.B. and J. Lucio-Cazana, *Intracellular EP2 prostanoid receptor promotes cancer-related phenotypes in PC3 cells*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2015. **72**(17): p. 3355-73.
- 81. Pai, R., et al., *Prostaglandin E2 transactivates EGF receptor: a novel mechanism for promoting colon cancer growth and gastrointestinal hypertrophy.* Nat Med, 2002. **8**(3): p. 289-93.
- 82. Pai, R., et al., *PGE(2) stimulates VEGF expression in endothelial cells via ERK2/JNK1 signaling pathways.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2001. **286**(5): p. 923-8.
- 83. Negishi, M., Y. Sugimoto, and A. Ichikawa, *Prostanoid Receptors and Their Biological Actions.* Progress in Lipid Research, 1993. **32**(4): p. 417-434.
- Katoh, H., et al., *Characterization of the signal transduction of prostaglandin E receptor EP1 subtype in cDNA-transfected Chinese hamster ovary cells*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1995.
 1244(1): p. 41-8.
- 85. Tabata, H., et al., *Possible coupling of prostaglandin E receptor EP(1) to TRP5 expressed in Xenopus laevis oocytes*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2002. **298**(3): p. 398-402.
- 86. Kotelevets, L., et al., *A new mRNA splice variant coding for the human EP3-I receptor isoform.* Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids, 2007. **77**(3-4): p. 195-201.
- Kotani, M., et al., Molecular cloning and expression of multiple isoforms of human prostaglandin E receptor EP3 subtype generated by alternative messenger RNA splicing: multiple second messenger systems and tissue-specific distributions. Mol Pharmacol, 1995.
 48(5): p. 869-79.

- 88. Schmid, A., et al., *Splice variants of the human EP3 receptor for prostaglandin E2*. Eur J Biochem, 1995. **228**(1): p. 23-30.
- 89. Ichikawa, A., Y. Sugimoto, and S. Tanaka, *Molecular biology of histidine decarboxylase and prostaglandin receptors*. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci, 2010. **86**(8): p. 848-66.
- 90. Regan, J.W., *EP2 and EP4 prostanoid receptor signaling*. Life Sci, 2003. **74**(2-3): p. 143-53.
- 91. Dey, I., M. Lejeune, and K. Chadee, *Prostaglandin E2 receptor distribution and function in the gastrointestinal tract.* Br J Pharmacol, 2006. **149**(6): p. 611-23.
- 92. Chang, S.H., et al., *Role of prostaglandin E2-dependent angiogenic switch in cyclooxygenase* 2-induced breast cancer progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(2): p. 591-6.
- 93. Richards, J.A. and R.W. Brueggemeier, *Prostaglandin E2 regulates aromatase activity and expression in human adipose stromal cells via two distinct receptor subtypes.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2003. **88**(6): p. 2810-6.
- 94. Subbaramaiah, K., et al., *EP2 and EP4 receptors regulate aromatase expression in human adipocytes and breast cancer cells. Evidence of a BRCA1 and p300 exchange.* J Biol Chem, 2008. **283**(6): p. 3433-44.
- 95. Robertson, F.M., et al., *Molecular and pharmacological blockade of the EP4 receptor selectively inhibits both proliferation and invasion of human inflammatory breast cancer cells.* J Exp Ther Oncol, 2008. **7**(4): p. 299-312.
- 96. Chandramouli, A., et al., *The induction of S100p expression by the Prostaglandin E(2)* (*PGE(2)*)/*EP4 receptor signaling pathway in colon cancer cells*. Cancer Biol Ther, 2010. 10(10): p. 1056-66.
- 97. Terada, N., et al., *Identification of EP4 as a Potential Target for the Treatment of Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer Using a Novel Xenograft Model.* Cancer Research, 2010. **70**(4): p. 1606-1615.
- 98. Zheng, Y., et al., *Prostaglandin E2 stimulates human lung carcinoma cell growth through induction of integrin-linked kinase: the involvement of EP4 and Sp1*. Cancer Res, 2009. 69(3): p. 896-904.
- 99. Timoshenko, A.V., et al., *Role of prostaglandin E2 receptors in migration of murine and human breast cancer cells.* Exp Cell Res, 2003. **289**(2): p. 265-74.
- Ohshiba, T., C. Miyaura, and A. Ito, *Role of prostaglandin E produced by osteoblasts in* osteolysis due to bone metastasis. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 2003. **300**(4): p. 957-964.
- 101. Howe, L.R. and A.J. Dannenberg, *COX-2 inhibitors for the prevention of breast cancer*. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2003. **8**(1): p. 31-43.
- Singh, B., et al., *COX-2 involvement in breast cancer metastasis to bone*. Oncogene, 2007.
 26(26): p. 3789-96.
- 103. Liu, C.H., et al., Overexpression of cyclooxygenase-2 is sufficient to induce tumorigenesis in transgenic mice. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2001. **276**(21): p. 18563-18569.
- 104. Ristimaki, A., et al., *Prognostic significance of elevated cyclooxygenase-2 expression in breast cancer*. Cancer Res, 2002. **62**(3): p. 632-5.
- Bos, P.D., et al., *Genes that mediate breast cancer metastasis to the brain*. Nature, 2009.
 459(7249): p. 1005-U137.
- 106. Stasinopoulos, I., et al., *Silencing of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibits metastasis and delays tumor onset of poorly differentiated metastatic breast cancer cells.* Mol Cancer Res, 2007. **5**(5): p. 435-42.
- 107. Chuah, B.Y., et al., *Serial changes in the expression of breast cancer-related proteins in response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy*. Ann Oncol, 2011. **22**(8): p. 1748-54.
- 108. Hay, E.D., *An overview of epithelio-mesenchymal transformation*. Acta Anat (Basel), 1995. **154**(1): p. 8-20.
- 109. Kalluri, R. and R.A. Weinberg, *The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition*. J Clin Invest, 2009. **119**(6): p. 1420-8.

- 110. Thiery, J.P., *Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and pathologies*. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 2003. **15**(6): p. 740-6.
- 111. Mathenge, E.G., et al., *Core needle biopsy of breast cancer tumors increases distant metastases in a mouse model.* Neoplasia, 2014. **16**(11): p. 950-60.
- 112. JP, T., *Complex networks orchestrate epithelial-mesenchymal transitions*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2006.
- 113. St John, M.A., *Inflammatory mediators drive metastasis and drug resistance in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma*. Laryngoscope, 2015. **125 Suppl 3**: p. S1-11.
- Dinicola, S., et al., *Nicotine increases colon cancer cell migration and invasion through epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT): COX-2 involvement.* J Cell Physiol, 2018. 233(6): p. 4935-4948.
- 115. Laskin, D.L., et al., *Macrophages and tissue injury: agents of defense or destruction?* Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 2011. **51**: p. 267-88.
- 116. Damodar, K., et al., *Synthesis and in vitro evaluation of homoisoflavonoids as potent inhibitors of nitric oxide production in RAW-264.7 cells.* Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters, 2018. **28**(11): p. 2098-2102.
- 117. Zhao, J.W., et al., *Evaluation of anti-inflammatory activity of compounds isolated from the rhizome of Ophiopogon japonicas.* BMC Complement Altern Med, 2017. **17**(1): p. 7.
- 118. El-Hawary, S.S., et al., *Metabolomic profiling of five Agave leaf taxa via UHPLC/PDA/ESI-MS inrelation to their anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory and ulceroprotective activities.* Steroids, 2020. **160**: p. 108648.
- 119. Lee, S., et al., *Sappanone A exhibits anti-inflammatory effects via modulation of Nrf2 and NFkappaB.* Int Immunopharmacol, 2015. **28**(1): p. 328-36.
- 120. Paine, A., et al., *Signaling to heme oxygenase-1 and its anti-inflammatory therapeutic potential*. Biochem Pharmacol, 2010. **80**(12): p. 1895-903.
- 121. Maines, M.D. and N. Panahian, *The heme oxygenase system and cellular defense mechanisms*. *Do HO-1 and HO-2 have different functions?* Adv Exp Med Biol, 2001. **502**: p. 249-72.
- 122. Abraham, N.G. and A. Kappas, *Pharmacological and clinical aspects of heme oxygenase*. Pharmacol Rev, 2008. **60**(1): p. 79-127.
- 123. Williams, C.S., M. Mann, and R.N. DuBois, *The role of cyclooxygenases in inflammation, cancer, and development*. Oncogene, 1999. **18**(55): p. 7908-16.
- 124. Wulfing, P., et al., Analysis of cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human breast cancer: high throughput tissue microarray analysis. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 2003. **129**(7): p. 375-82.
- 125. Costa, C., et al., *Cyclo-oxygenase 2 expression is associated with angiogenesis and lymph node metastasis in human breast cancer.* Journal of Clinical Pathology, 2002. **55**(6): p. 429-434.
- 126. Zelenay, S., et al., *Cyclooxygenase-Dependent Tumor Growth through Evasion of Immunity*. Cell, 2015. **162**(6): p. 1257-1270.
- 127. Smith, W.L., D.L. DeWitt, and R.M. Garavito, *Cyclooxygenases: structural, cellular, and molecular biology*. Annu Rev Biochem, 2000. **69**: p. 145-82.
- 128. Giardiello, F.M., G.J. Offerhaus, and R.N. DuBois, *The role of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in colorectal cancer prevention*. Eur J Cancer, 1995. **31A**(7-8): p. 1071-6.
- 129. Levy, G.N., *Prostaglandin H synthases, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, and colon cancer.* FASEB J, 1997. **11**(4): p. 234-47.
- 130. Cipollone, F., G. Cicolini, and M. Bucci, *Cyclooxygenase and prostaglandin synthases in atherosclerosis: recent insights and future perspectives.* Pharmacol Ther, 2008. **118**(2): p. 161-80.
- 131. Waller, C.P., et al., *COX-2 inhibitory activity of homoisoflavanones and xanthones from the bulbs of the Southern African Ledebouria socialis and Ledebouria ovatifolia (Hyacinthaceae: Hyacinthoideae).* Phytochemistry, 2013. **95**: p. 284-90.

- 132. Feitelson, M.A., *Sustained proliferation in cancer: Mechanisms and novel therapeutic targets.* Seminars in Cancer Biology, 2015.
- 133. Hanahan, D., Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell, 2011.
- 134. El-Elimat, T., et al., *Cytotoxic homoisoflavonoids from the bulbs of Bellevalia flexuosa*. Fitoterapia, 2018. **127**: p. 201-206.
- 135. Hu, X.R., G.X. Chou, and C.G. Zhang, *Flavonoids, alkaloids from the seeds of Crotalaria* pallida and their cytotoxicity and anti-inflammatory activities. Phytochemistry, 2017. **143**: p. 64-71.
- 136. Folkman, J., *The role of angiogenesis in tumor growth*. Semin Cancer Biol, 1992. **3**(2): p. 65-71.
- 137. Shweiki, D., et al., *Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis.* Nature, 1992. **359**(6398): p. 843-5.
- 138. Hasebe, Y., et al., *Specific inhibition of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 alpha activation and of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) production by flavonoids*. Biol Pharm Bull, 2003. **26**(10): p. 1379-83.
- 139. Varella, L., J. Abraham, and M. Kruse, *Revisiting the Role of Bevacizumab in the Treatment of Breast Cancer*. Semin Oncol, 2017. **44**(4): p. 273-285.
- 140. Kim, J.H., et al., *Inhibition of choroidal neovascularization by homoisoflavanone, a new angiogenesis inhibitor.* Mol Vis, 2008. **14**: p. 556-61.
- 141. Sulaiman, R.S., et al., A novel small molecule ameliorates ocular neovascularisation and synergises with anti-VEGF therapy. Sci Rep, 2016. 6: p. 25509.
- 142. Fares, J., et al., *Molecular principles of metastasis: a hallmark of cancer revisited.* Signal Transduct Target Ther, 2020. **5**(1): p. 28.
- 143. Liotta, L.A., et al., *Metastatic potential correlates with enzymatic degradation of basement membrane collagen.* Nature, 1980. **284**(5751): p. 67-8.
- 144. Kessenbrock, K., V. Plaks, and Z. Werb, *Matrix metalloproteinases: regulators of the tumor microenvironment.* Cell, 2010. **141**(1): p. 52-67.
- 145. Witters, L., et al., *Synergistic inhibition with a dual epidermal growth factor receptor/HER-*2/neu tyrosine kinase inhibitor and a disintegrin and metalloprotease inhibitor. Cancer Res, 2008. **68**(17): p. 7083-9.
- 146. Jenie, R.I., et al., *The Cytotoxic and Antimigratory Activity of Brazilin-Doxorubicin on MCF-7/HER2 Cells*. Adv Pharm Bull, 2018. **8**(3): p. 507-516.
- 147. Alali, F., et al., *Cytotoxic Homoisoflavones from the Bulbs of Bellevalia eigii*. J Nat Prod, 2015. **78**(7): p. 1708-15.
- 148. Fardoun, M., et al., 7-O-methylpunctatin, a Novel Homoisoflavonoid, Inhibits Phenotypic Switch of Human Arteriolar Smooth Muscle Cells. Biomolecules, 2019. **9**(11).
- 149. Rensen, S.S., P.A. Doevendans, and G.J. van Eys, *Regulation and characteristics of vascular smooth muscle cell phenotypic diversity*. Neth Heart J, 2007. **15**(3): p. 100-8.
- 150. Hauner, H., *The Impact of Nutrition on the Development and Prognosis of Breast Cancer*. Breast Care (Basel), 2010: p. 377-381.
- 151. Gandini, S., *Meta-analysis of studies on breast cancer risk and diet:The role of fruit and vegetable consumption and the intake of associated micronutrients.* Eur. J. Cancer, 2000: p. 636–646.
- 152. M., M., 2016.
- 153. Williamson, G., *Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans*. Am. J. Clin. Nutr, 2005.
- 154. Thun, M., Inflammation and Cancer: An Epidemioloical Perspective. 2004: p. 6-28.
- 155. Nahoum, R., *Why Cancer and Inflammation?* . The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine, 2006.
- 156. Lu, H., Inflammation, a key event in cancer development Mol. Cancer Res., 2006: p. 1-13.

- 157. JL, B., *Regular aspirin use and breast cancer risk in US Black women*. Cancer Causes Control, 2011.
- 158. ES, D.-C., Cyclooxygenase Inhibitors Suppress Aromatase Expression and Activity in Breast Cancer Cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab., 2005.
- 159. Li, J., *Celecoxib in breast cancer prevention and therapy*. Cancer Management and Research, 2018.
- 160. Howes, L.G., Selective COX-2 inhibitors, NSAIDs and cardiovascular events is celecoxib the safest choice? Ther Clin Risk Manag, 2007. **3**(5): p. 831-45.
- 161. A, B., *Breast cancer, its recurrence, and patient survival in relation to tumor prostaglandins.* Adv Prostaglandin Thromboxane Leukot Res., 1983.
- 162. PK, L., Effects of chronic indomethacin therapy on the development and progression of spontaneous mammary tumors in C3H/HEJ mice. Int J Cancer, 1997.
- 163. S-H, C., *Role of prostaglandin E2-dependent angiogenic switch in cyclooxygenase 2-induced breast cancer progression.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 2004.
- 164. M, M., Prostaglandin E2 receptor EP4 as the common target on cancer cells and macrophages to abolish angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis, metastasis, and stem-like cell functions. Cancer Sci., 2014.
- 165. AV, T., *Role of prostaglandin E2 receptors in migration of murine and human breast cancer cells.* Exp Cell Res, 2003.
- 166. Abotaleb, M., et al., *Flavonoids in Cancer and Apoptosis*. Cancers (Basel), 2018. **11**(1).
- 167. Oh, S.M., Y.P. Kim, and K.H. Chung, *Biphasic effects of kaempferol on the estrogenicity in human breast cancer cells*. Arch Pharm Res, 2006. **29**(5): p. 354-62.
- 168. Li, J., et al., *Celecoxib in breast cancer prevention and therapy*. Cancer Manag Res, 2018. **10**: p. 4653-4667.
- 169. Harris, R.E., J. Beebe, and G.A. Alshafie, *Reduction in cancer risk by selective and nonselective cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors.* J Exp Pharmacol, 2012. **4**: p. 91-6.
- 170. Kim, S., et al., Silibinin prevents TPA-induced MMP-9 expression by down-regulation of COX-2 in human breast cancer cells. J Ethnopharmacol, 2009. **126**(2): p. 252-7.
- 171. Shaw, L.M., *Integrin function in breast carcinoma progression*. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia, 1999.
- 172. Dedhar, S., Integrin mediated signal transduction in oncogenesis: An overview. 1995.
- 173. Lafrenie, R., Integrins and matrix molecules in salivary gland cell adhesion, signaling, and gene expression. 1998.
- 174. Bartsch, J.E., *Adhesion and Migration of Extracellular Matrix-Stimulated Breast Cancer*. 2003.
- 175. Santen, R.J., et al., *The role of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase in breast cancer.* J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 2002. **80**(2): p. 239-56.
- 176. Castoria, G., et al., *PI3-kinase in concert with Src promotes the S-phase entry of oestradiolstimulated MCF-7 cells.* EMBO J, 2001. **20**(21): p. 6050-9.
- 177. Castoria, G., et al., *Role of atypical protein kinase C in estradiol-triggered G1/S progression of MCF-7 cells*. Mol Cell Biol, 2004. **24**(17): p. 7643-53.
- 178. Coleman, M.L., C.J. Marshall, and M.F. Olson, *RAS and RHO GTPases in G1-phase cell-cycle regulation*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2004. **5**(5): p. 355-66.
- 179. Bower, J.J., et al., *Patterns of cell cycle checkpoint deregulation associated with intrinsic molecular subtypes of human breast cancer cells.* NPJ Breast Cancer, 2017. **3**: p. 9.
- 180. Suzuki, T., et al., *Phosphorylation of three regulatory serines of Tob by Erk1 and Erk2 is required for Ras-mediated cell proliferation and transformation*. Genes Dev, 2002. **16**(11): p. 1356-70.
- Arnold, A. and A. Papanikolaou, *Cyclin D1 in breast cancer pathogenesis*. J Clin Oncol, 2005.
 23(18): p. 4215-24.
- 182. A, L., p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell, 1997.

- 183. SJ, K., Bcl-2 gene family and the regulation of programmed cell death. 1999.
- 184. Z, O., Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conversed homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. 1993.
- 185. DG, K., Caspase-3-dependent cleavage of bcl-2 promotes release of cytochrome c. 1999.
- 186. Carmeliet, P., Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. Nature 2000.
- 187. Mukherji, D., Angiogenesis and antiangiogenic therapy in prostate cancer. 2013.
- 188. Sarkar, C., Angiogenesis Inhibition in Prostate Cancer: An Update. 2020.
- 189. Ranieri, G., Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) as a target of bevacizumab in cancer: from the biology to the clinic. 2006.